FEDERAL BR<mark>IDG</mark>E CORPORATION SOCIÉTÉ DES PONTS FÉDÉRAUX

QUARTERLY REPORT ND QUARTER (Q2) – UNAUDITED FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

2021 | 2022

Canada



CONTENTS

Introduction 4
Forward-looking statements4
Materiality4
Corporate Overview
Mandate
Outlook6
Significant Changes
Risk Management 8
Corporate Risk8
Financial Risk
Quarterly Results
Results of Operations10
Financial Performance Against Corporate Plan 14

	Reporting on Use of Appropriations	14
	FBCL Interim Unaudited Condensed	
	Consolidated Financial Statements	16
	Statement of Management Responsibility	17
	Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated	
	Statement of Financial Position	18
	Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated	
	Statement of Comprehensive Income	19
	Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated	
	Statement of Changes in Equity	20
	Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated	
	Statement of Cash Flows	21
	Selected Notes to the Interim Unaudited	
F	Condensed Consolidated	
F	Financial Statements	22

NO

-



Introduction

This interim financial report outlines the significant activities and initiatives, risks and financial results of The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited (FBCL) for the six-month period ended September 30, 2021. This interim financial report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the *Financial Administration Act* and the Standard on Quarterly Financial Reports for Crown Corporations issued by the Treasury Board Secretariat and with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 34, *Interim Financial Reporting*. It should be read in conjunction with the interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes, included herein. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars.

Forward-looking statements

Readers are cautioned that this report includes certain forward-looking information and statements. These forward-looking statements contain information that is generally stated to be anticipated, expected or projected by FBCL. They involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual results and performance of FBCL to be materiality different from any future results and performance expressed or implied by such forward-looking information.

Materiality

In assessing what information is to be provided in the interim financial report, management applies the materiality principle as guidance for disclosure. Management considers information material if it is probable that its omission or misstatement, judged in the surrounding circumstances, would influence the economic decisions of FBCL's stakeholders.

Corporate Overview

FBCL is a federal Crown corporation that has been entrusted with the administration of Canada's interests in four international crossings between Ontario and the United States. Each bridge has unique geographic, cultural, climactic, trade, employment and administrative characteristics that offer unique challenges while delivering crucial benefits to their local communities. FBCL owns crossing assets and provides oversight to bridge operations, administers international agreements associated with the bridges, leads bridge engineering and inspection duties and manages bridge capital investment projects.

Mandate

FBCL's mandate, approved by the Minister of Transport, is to provide the highest level of stewardship so that its international bridges and associated structures are safe and efficient for users.

The business or undertaking of the Corporation is limited to the following:

- a) The design, construction, acquisition, financing, maintenance, operation, management, development, repair, demolition or reconstruction of bridges or other related structures, facilities, works or properties, including approaches, easements, power or communication transmission equipment, pipelines integrated with any such bridge, other related structure, facility, work, or property, linking the Province of Ontario in Canada to the State of New York or the State of Michigan in the United States of America, either alone, jointly or in cooperation with any other person, legal entity or governmental authority in Canada or in the United States of America;
- b) The design, construction, acquisition, financing, maintenance, operation, management, development, repair, demolition or reconstruction of other bridges or other related structures, facilities, works or properties, as the Governor in Council may deem appropriate, on such terms and conditions as the Governor in Council may determine; and
- c) Any business, undertaking or other activities incidental to any bridge, or other related structure, facility, work or property contemplated in paragraph (a) or (b).

The Fede

For the foregoing purposes, the Corporation has, subject to the Financial Administration Act, the Canada Business Corporations Act, and its mandated articles, as amended from time to time, the capacities and powers of a natural person.

Outlook

FBCL manages Canada's interest in four of the bridges linking Ontario with the United States. Each crossing is endowed with unique characteristics. The bridges are dynamic reflections of their regional communities and are subject to distinct co-ownership and administrative models. As a collective, they enhance FBCL's aim of generating a shared portfolio-wide capital reserve for asset maintenance and contingency management while still commanding a need for individualized consideration.

The Corporation has adopted a portfolio management approach to deliver its mandate. It is not a portfolio of corporations but rather one parent Crown corporation overseeing a portfolio of federal assets, which are used in pursuit of public policy objectives. Key aspects of the portfolio management approach include:

- Funds surplus to operating requirements used for capital re-investment in all portfolio bridges in support of public policy objectives;
- Revenues centrally managed, with each bridge established as a cost centre, including an appropriate corporate services allocation;
- Operational and maintenance expenditures of each bridge based on common policies;
- Integrated long-term capital plan developed as basis for capital prioritisation and annual capital budget; and
- Shared internal services.

The establishment of this management approach provides a unique opportunity to look at all possibilities, both through adopting best practices and a comprehensive common approach within the portfolio and through identifying broader strategic opportunities. Additionally, this approach has assisted FBCL in its operation and oversight of its portfolio of bridges during the current border restrictions that have been in effect at the Canada-US border since March 2020. These restrictions have affected FBCL's revenues greatly, and FBCL's bridges have responded by reducing and deferring expenditures where prudent and safe. FBCL continues to monitor and assess the impact of continued border restrictions on its plans.

As stewards of four of Canada's international bridge crossings, it is necessary to invest prudently in the maintenance, rehabilitation and at times, complete replacement of bridge and bridge plaza assets. For the current year, FBCL's strategy with relation to capital acquisition is to only invest in projects which cannot be postponed to future fiscal years. The significant construction projects in the quarter included:

- a) **Cornwall:** The replacement of the South Channel Bridge travellers is ongoing and is expected to be completed in the current fiscal year. The travellers allow for routine maintenance and inspections of the structure.
- b) Lansdowne: There were no significant construction projects in the second quarter.

c) **Point Edward:** During the quarter, work was performed on the replacing the emergency generator, the Duty Free HVAC system, enhancing the security operations camera project, and the design of a new toll collection system.

d) **Sault Ste. Marie:** There were no significant construction projects in the second quarter.

Significant Changes

As a result of COVID-19, the Canadian government enforced strict rules eliminating substantially all personal cross-border traveling commencing in the latter half of March 2020. As the restrictions impacted all of fiscal 2020-21 and continue into fiscal 2021-22, FBCL has experienced – and will likely continue to experience – a significant decrease in Tolls and Leasing revenues. The Canadian Federal Government announced that starting in early August, fully vaccinated Americans were permitted to enter into Canada, with specific conditions, and the U.S. Government has announced that in early November, fully vaccinated Canadians will be permitted to enter into the United States.

FBCL has also hired a new Chief Corporate Services Officer, Rémi Paquette, replacing Anthony Pickett who retired earlier this year. **XXXXX**

XXXXXX

Risk Management

Corporate Risk

In line with good governance practices, FBCL updates and revises its Enterprise Risk Management on an ongoing basis, identifying and including any changes in FBCL's environment. In order to address the risks within FBCL's corporate risk profile, effective risk mitigation strategies and action plans are developed, under the oversight of assigned members of executive management, to reduce the risk exposure to an acceptable and manageable level.

Management monitors progress on the implementation of the mitigation strategies developed as part of the Enterprise Risk Management and reports to the Board of Directors on a regular basis. The ongoing risk of decreased Tolls and Leasing revenue due to limited passenger volumes and COVID-19 are considered significant risks as they directly affect FBCL's ability to meet its strategic objectives. During the second quarter, in August, the unions representing workers at the Canada Border Services Agency (CBSA) embarked in one day of a work-to-rule campaign, which delayed traffic processing operations at all border entries into Canada. Fortunately, further action was curtailed by negotiated collective agreements after one day.

Financial Risk

Since the implementation of border restrictions directly affects FBCL's ability to collect Tolls revenue and limits customers at leased Duty Free facilities, the financial impact is significant and will continue to become more substantial the longer the borders restrictions remain in place. The duration and extent of the COVID-19 pandemic measures and related travel restrictions remain unclear at this time and therefore it is not possible to reliably estimate the full effect on FBCL. While restrictions to enter into Canada were loosened in August, this only resulted in passenger volumes increasing by 5% of pre-pandemic levels. As restrictions to enter into the United States will be loosened in November, it is anticipated that volumes will increase but still be significantly below pre-pandemic levels. FBCL is currently working with Transport Canada to finalize the current year Corporate Plan and has been approved to receive government funding for the current fiscal year in order to compensate for the decrease in toll revenues.

In recent years, overlooking the impact of COVID-19, SIBC has been facing a major financial risk as paying passenger traffic volumes are sharply down due to an overall regional bi-national manufacturing decline, the value of the Canadian dollar and limited commercial traffic at that location. Operational efforts remain the same as free passage traffic crossing the bi-national region remains high. Management closely monitors the decrease in Tolls revenue by only incurring essential expenses but this strategy cannot be maintained in the long-term.

The overall level of FBCL's debt is forecasted to decline as loan balances are reduced. FBCL's strategy is to repay its loans as they become due, as FBCL wishes to maintain a strong debt service coverage ratio, at the same time. This strong debt management strategy is to allow for debt payments over the life of the loans, and to minimize the need for additional indebtedness. With the impact of COVID-19, FBCL is closely monitoring its cash and investments to determine the most prudent path forward.

TANK

With this uncertainty, FBCL secured all required approvals, which will allow FBCL to borrow up to \$10 million between January 1, 2021 and March 31, 2022, if required. In July 2021, FBCL repayed the last accelerated debt repayment on its existing loans payable of \$2.5 million. At this time, the \$10 million borrowing has not been drawn upon. However, the entire \$10 million borrowing is expected to be drawn upon by the end of the current fiscal year.

While FBCL has some control over toll rates, it must be noted that most international bridges are managed jointly under international agreements with U.S. partners. From a revenue perspective, the ability to unilaterally change toll rates for additional revenue is subject to variances in governance policies between Canada and the United States. The tolls rates at Blue Water Bridge for USA-bound traffic were updated on April 1, 2021. The primary factors affecting the new rates are the crossing's on-going operational and maintenance needs, the traffic patterns over the past five years and the differences between the two currencies. In making its decision, management also considered public health measures intended to reduce the handling and exchange between travelers and toll staff of cash and other items while making the toll payment process quicker for all travelers. The toll rate adjustment encourages travelers to take advantage of the ease, speed and cost savings provided by the contactless Connexion pre-paid toll program. The toll rates at the Thousand Islands Bridge were also adjusted on April 1, 2021.

On the expenditure front, whereas Canadian bridge owners must comply with the *Customs Act* (Section 6) and the *Health of Animals Act* to provide the CBSA and the Canadian Food Inspection Agency with facilities, similar expenses for the U.S. Customs and Border Protection organization are not the responsibility of the American bridge owners/operators. In addition, given the Crown agreements providing toll-free passage for members of the indigenous community, this section of the *Customs Act* is not applied at the bridge in Cornwall, as the operational burden financed through non-competitive tolling would effectively threaten the facility's financial sustainability.

Quarterly Results

Results of Operations

SEASONAL TRENDS

Traffic on FBCL's portfolio of bridges has traditionally experienced seasonal variations. From a revenue perspective, the period of May to October has a greater number of transits. In the November to April timeframe, there are historically a lower number of transits resulting in lower toll revenues. This demand pattern is principally a result of leisure travellers, favourable weather and a preference for travel between the late spring and early fall months. However, revenues from April 1, 2020 onwards are significantly lower due to border restrictions implemented to slow the spread of COVID-19 nearly eliminating all passenger travellers.

Economic conditions in Canada and the United States also have an important influence on international vehicle traffic by way of commercial truck traffic, which has a significantly higher toll rate. These economic conditions are less variable on a seasonal basis but more a result of the business climate in each country. Again, COVID-19 had a significant impact on the commercial truck volumes since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In regards to its expenses, FBCL incurs important annual maintenance and asset rehabilitation costs during the construction season spanning the first three quarters of the fiscal year. These planned expenses can be influenced by varying weather conditions depending on the timing of the onset of the winter climate. Expenses for operations and administration are not considered to have important seasonal variations.

	FOR THE T	FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDING			FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDING			
	Sept 30, 2021	Sept 30, 2020		Sept 30, 2021	Sept 30, 2020			
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	Variance	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	Variance		
Tolls	6,216	5,528	688	12,290	9,526	2,764		
Thousand Islands International Bridge	1,328	1,084	244	2,408	1,878	530		
Leases and permits	442	304	138	807	635	172		
Interest	12	73	(61)	22	165	(143)		
Gain on investements	(12)	11	(23)	(12)	423	(435)		
Other	63	100	(37)	114	189	(75)		
TOTAL REVENUE	8,049	7,100	949	15,629	12,816	2,813		
GOVERNMENT FUNDING	4,821	1,276	3,545	10,362	2,438	7,924		

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REVENUE AND GOVERNMENT FUNDING ('000S)

Tolls and Thousand Islands International Bridge: Toll revenues are affected by traffic volumes, by the Canadian dollar exchange rate vs US dollar, and changes in toll rates. Revenues are increased in comparison to the prior year as a result of a relative increase in overall traffic volumes.

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

During the second quarter of 2021-22, overall truck and passenger car volumes have increased by 5% and 36% respectively when compared to the second quarter of 2020-21. Truck volumes, by bridge varied between a decrease of 4% to an increase of 12% while passenger cars, per bridge, varied between an increase of 21% to 143%. From a year-to-date perspective, overall truck and passenger car volumes have increased by 20% and 35% respectively. It should be noted that commercial volumes were at an all-time low in the first quarter of 2020-21 as this was the start of the pandemic. Commercial volumes

during the prior year eventually rebounded. While passenger volumes have increased due to restrictions to enter into Canada being loosened in August, passenger volumes are still approximately 15% of prepandemic levels.

Given that the commercial traffic bases at the Sault Ste. Marie and Seaway International Bridges normally constitute only 5% of traffic loads, these operations have been significantly impacted by COVID-19 restrictions to non-essential travel. Worsening the situation at the Seaway International Bridge is the requirement to maintain normal operating levels in support of the normally more than 70% of tollexempt travelers that depend on the bridge in order to access necessary food and medical suppliers.

For the Thousand Islands International Bridge, commercial vehicles typically make up about 20% of the crossing's users and the on-going construction of new US Customs and Border Protection facilities on Wellesley Island have helped with a vital source of cash flow. Despite these advantages, the normally strong crossborder tourism industry in this region was considerably affected by the on-going border restrictions.

Within the portfolio, the Blue Water Bridge is uniquely positioned to deal with this pandemic's impacts. As Canada's second busiest commercial border crossing, it benefits from a user base that is usually comprised of roughly 35-40% commercial vehicles. Initially, the pandemic caused dramatic reductions to commercial traffic, however commercial trends have returned to within seasonal and annually expected values.

CANADIAN VS. US DOLLAR EXCHANGE RATE

The exchange rate for the second quarter of 2021-22 was 1.26, on average, whereas the exchange rate for the second quarter of 2020-21 was 1.39. FBCL reviews the currency parity of the tolls rates at its bridge locations to ensure that the rates are fair in both currencies and may adjust the rates in order to minimize any foreign currency loss on toll revenues.

CHANGES IN TOLL RATES

Toll rates were updated at the bridges in Sault Ste. Marie and Cornwall effective April 1, 2019. Toll rates at the Point Edward and Thousand Islands crossings were updated effective April 1, 2021.

Leases and permits: Usually, the most significant leases are from the Duty Free stores in Point Edward, Thousand Islands, and Sault Ste. Marie in which a significant portion of FBCL's lease revenues are based on a percentage of sales of goods at these Duty Free stores. With the border travel restrictions, the Duty Free stores generated minimal revenues.

Interest and Gain on investments: With the decrease in Tolls revenue, nearly all of the investments were redeemed prior to March 31, 2021.

Government funding: The government funding recognized in revenues consists of amortization of deferred capital funding in the amount of \$1.0 million for the second quarter of 2021-22 (\$0.9 million for the second quarter of 2020-21) and \$3.8 million for the second quarter of 2021-22 relating to operations at all four bridge locations (\$0.4 million for the second quarter of 2020-21 relating to the operations of the Seaway International Bridge). From a year-to-date perspective, amortization of deferred capital funding and government funding for operations is \$2.0 million and \$8.3 million respectively (\$1.8 million and \$0.7 million respectively in 2020-21). Refer to the Reporting on Use of Parliamentary Appropriations section below for more information.

	FOR THE TH	FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDING			FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDING		
	Sept 30, 2021	Sept 30, 2020		Sept 30, 2021	Sept 30, 2020		
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	Variance	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	Variance	
Operations	2,448	1,793	655	5,021	3,877	1,144	
Thousand Islands							
International Bridge	1,494	1,332	162	2,855	2,963	(108)	
Maintenance	3,561	3,565	(4)	7,020	6,849	171	
CBSA & CFIA operations	1,767	1,815	(48)	3,748	3,739	9	
Administration	1,751	1,672	79	3,738	3,508	230	
Additional funding of SIBC							
operations	194	179	15	348	321	27	
TOTAL EXPENSES	11,215	10,356	859	22,730	21,257	1,473	
INTEREST EXPENSE	741	862	(121)	1,549	1,765	(216)	

OPERATING AND INTEREST EXPENSE ('000S)

Government funding has been obtained again this year to sustain SIBC's operations. Historically, FBCL recognizes 50% of revenues and expenses of the Seaway International Bridge in accordance with the international agreements, however, due to COVID-19 the remaining 50% of the deficit is funded by government funding and therefore included as an expense.

The Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income presents operating expenses by function as this represents how management monitors its expenses internally against budgets.

Operations: Operations expense relate to the collection of toll revenue, security and traffic management. The increase in expenses relate primarily to an increase in depreciation for an emergency electrical generator that will be replaced in the third quarter.

Thousand Islands International Bridge: The expenses represent FBCL's share of expenses as a result of the international agreement pertaining to the crossing at the Thousand Islands. Savings strategies were implemented by the bridge operator resulting in lower expenses for the first two quarters of 2021-22 when compared to the first two quarters of 2020-21.

Maintenance: Maintenance expenses relate to the maintenance, upkeep and repairs of FBCL's assets. The increase in maintenance costs relates primarily to increased depreciation. The second quarter of 2021-22 is comparable to the second quarter of 2020-21.

CBSA/CFIA: FBCL is required to provide facilities and certain maintenance of these facilities at some of its crossings to the CBSA and the CFIA, for which there is no related revenue. The first two quarters of 2021-22 is comparable to the first two quarters of 2020-21.

Administration: Administration expenses relate to the management and oversight of the operations of the individual crossings and the Corporation. The significant portion of the increase in costs relates to an upfront recognition of expense for employee future benefits in the first quarter of 2021-22. The second quarter of 2021-22 is comparable to the second quarter of 2020-21.

Interest expense: As FBCL makes regular payments on its bank loans and bonds payable, the interest expense decreases. Additional savings on interest expenses are also experienced as bank loans are repaid as they mature.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (\$000'S)

	Sept 30,	March 31,	
	2021	2021	
	(Unaudited)	(Audited)	Variance
Assets			
Financial assets	7,989	6,763	1,226
Non-financial assets	373,408	381,387	(7,979)
Total assets	381,397	388,150	(6,753)
Liabilities			
Current liabilities	15,908	20,485	(4,577)
Non-current liabilities	144,247	148,144	(3,897)
Total liabilities	160,155	168,629	(8,474)
Total equity	221,242	219,521	1,721

Financial Assets: Financial assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments, and receivables. At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, FBCL had a strong cash and investment balance of \$27 million which allowed FBCL to continue its operations for the majority of the 2020-21 fiscal year without requiring government funding for three of the bridge locations (emergency funding was obtained for the full year at the Seaway International Bridge). As the restrictions continued, FBCL's cash and investment reserves were significantly reduced. FBCL has secured access of up to \$18.5 million in emergency funding for the 2021-22 fiscal year to support the continued operations of all four bridge locations. Of this secured amount \$11.3 million is expected to be used by the end of the fiscal year (\$2.6 million for capital acquisitions and \$8.7 million for operations). This emergency funding will help to ensure that FBCL's operations continue.

Non-financial Assets: Non-financial assets consist primarily of property and equipment and investment properties and also include prepaid expenses, intangible assets and lessor inducement. \$1.5 million of prepaid insurance and payments in lieu of taxes have been expensed during the first quarter of 2021-22. Capital asset purchases total only \$3.6 million while depreciation of \$10.0 million has been recorded.

Current Liabilities: Over the first two quarters of the fiscal year current liabilities have decreased by \$4.6 million primarily due to the timing of when trade and other payables are made, debt payments and deferred government funding relating to operations being reclassified to net income.

Non-current Liabilities: Bonds payable has decreased by \$3.1 million since March 31, 2021, as a bi-annual bond payment was made. The deferred government funding balance has decreased by by a net \$0.9 million.

Financial Performance against Corporate Plan

The 2021-22 to 2025-26 Corporate Plan has not been approved and consequently the financial performance against the Corporate Plan has not been included in this quarterly report.

Reporting on Use of Appropriations

As part of the Appropriations Act 2021-22 (Full supply for Main Estimates) which passed as legislation by the House of Commons on June 17, 2021, \$18.5 million was granted to FBCL under vote 1. Of this amount, FBCL has claimed \$7.8 million for the first two quarters of 2021-22 (\$0.9 million for capital acquisitions and \$6.9 million for operations).

(IP



FBCL Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

For the six months ended September 30, 2021

FBCL's interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management reviewed by the Finance and Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. FBCL's external auditors have not audited nor reviewed these interim unaudited condensed consolidated statements.

Statement of Management Responsibility

Management of The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Treasury Board of Canada *Standard on Quarterly Financial Reports for Crown Corporations* and International Financial Reporting Standard 34 *Interim Financial Reporting*, and for such internal controls as management determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. Management is also responsible for ensuring all other information in this interim financial report is consistent, where appropriate, with the restated interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited completed the consolidation of the interim unaudited financial statements and establishes and maintains appropriate internal controls for that purpose. To prepare its interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, the management of The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited relies on unaudited financial information provided by its wholly-owned subsidiary, The Seaway International Bridge Corporation Ltd., as well as unaudited financial information provided by its international partners. The financial information provided by the subsidiary and the international partners, as well as the internal controls established and maintained to collect such information, are the responsibility of each of these entities' management.

Based on our knowledge, these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the corporation, as at the date of and for the periods presented in the interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

atalie Kinloch

Natalie Kinloch Chief Executive Officer

Ottawa, Canada November 25, 2021

Richard Iglinski Chief Financial Officer



Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at September 30, 2021

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

		Sept 30,	March 31,
	Notes	2021	2021
		unaudited	audited
		\$	4
Assets		Ŧ	
Current Assets			
Cash and cash equivalents		6,772	5,020
Investments		260	248
Trade and other receivables		957	1,495
Prepaids		1,310	2,834
Total Current Assets		9,299	9,597
Non-Current Assets			
Property and equipment	6	353,433	360,216
Investment properties		18,405	18,083
Intangible assets		73	61
Lessor inducement		187	193
Total Non-Current Assets		372,098	378,553
Total Assets		381,397	388,150
Liabilities			
Current Liabilities			
Trade and other payables		1,454	2,065
Employee benefits		1,434	1,13
Holdbacks		307	337
Deferred revenue		2,479	2,462
Loans payable		_, . , , , , ,	2,542
Bonds payable		6,109	5,914
Lease liability		219	189
Deferred government funding		4,125	5,845
Total Current Liabilities		15,908	20,485
Non-Current Liabilities			
Deferred revenue		1,139	1,214
Bonds payable		37,302	40,406
Lease liability Deferred government funding		1,018 96,198	1,119 97,025
Employee benefits		8,590	8,380
Total Non-Current Liabilities		144,247	148,144
			1-0,1-
Equity			
Share capital - 2 shares @ no par value		-	
Retained earnings		221,241	219,529
Accumulated other comprehensive income		1	(8)
Total Equity		221,242	219,521
Total Equity and Liabilities		381,397	388,150

Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited

Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and six month periods ended September 30, 2021 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

	For the thre	e months ended	For the six months ended		
	September 30,	September 30,		September 30,	
	2021	2020	2021	2020	
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	
-	\$	\$	\$	\$	
Revenue		(restated *)	40.000	(restated *)	
Tolls and services	6,216	5,528	12,290	9,526	
Thousand Islands International Bridge revenue	1,328	1,084	2,408	1,878	
Leases and permits	442	304	807	635	
Interest	12	73	22	165	
Gain on investments	(12)	11	(12)	423	
Other	63	100	114	189	
Total Revenue	8,049	7,100	15,629	12,816	
Expenses					
Operations	2,448	1,793	5,021	3,877	
Thousand Islands International Bridge expenses	1,494	1,332	2,855	2,963	
Maintenance	3,561	3,565	7,020	6,849	
Canada Border Security Agency & Canadian Food					
Inspection Agency operations	1,767	1,815	3,748	3,739	
Administration	1,751	1,672	3,738	3,508	
Additional funding of SIBC operations	194	179	348	321	
Total Expenses	11,215	10,356	22,730	21,257	
Operating Loss Before Government Funding	(3,166)	(3,256)	(7,101)	(8,441)	
Government Funding					
Amortization of deferred capital funding	998	876	2,046	1,752	
Funding with respect to operating expense	3,823	400	8,316	686	
Total Government Funding	4,821	1,276	10,362	2,438	
Non-Operating Items					
Interest expense	(741)	(862)	(1,549)	(1,765)	
Total Non-Operating Income	(741)	(862)	(1,549)	(1,765)	
Net income (loss)	914	(2,842)	1,712	(7,768)	
Other Comprehensive Income					
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to statement of income (loss)					
Investments revaluation gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments	(4)	15	(3)	496	
Cumulative loss (gain) reclassified to income on sale of available-for-sale investments	9	(11)	12	(423)	
Total Other Comprehensive Income	5	4	9	73	
				/0	

* In order to conform with the consolidated financial statement presentation, the additional funding of SIBC operations is included as one expense line rather than the previous presentation where 100% of SIBC revenues and expenses were recorded.

Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the six-month period

ended September 30, 2021 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

		Accumulated Other	
	Retained	Comprehensive	
	Earnings	Income	Total
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
	\$	\$	\$
Balance, April 1, 2020	234,525	551	235,076
Total Comprehesive Income:			
Net loss	(7,768)	-	(7,768)
Other Comprehesive Income:			
Revaluation gain on fair value through other comprehensive income investments	-	496	496
Cumulative gain reclassified to income on sale of fair value through other comprehensive income		(400)	(400)
investments	-	(423)	(423)
Other Comprehensive Income total	(7,768)	73	73 (7,695)
Total Comprehensive Income	(7,700)	/3	(7,075)
Balance at September 30, 2020	226,757	624	227,381
Balance, April 1, 2021	219,529	(8)	219,521
Total Comprehesive Income:			
Net income	1,712	-	1,712
Other Comprehesive Income:			
Revaluation loss on fair value through other comprehensive income investments	-	(3)	(3)
Cumulative loss reclassified to income on sale of fair value through other comprehensive income investments	-	12	12
Other Comprehensive Income total	-	9	9
Total Comprehensive Income	1,712	9	1,721
Balance at September 30, 2021	221,241	1	221,242

Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited

Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three and six month periods ended September 30, 2021 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

	For the thre	e months ended	For the six months ended		
	September 30, 2021	September 30, 2020	September 30, 2021	September 30 2020	
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited	
	\$	\$	\$		
Cash Flows from Operating Activities					
Net income (loss)	914	(2,842)	1,712	(7,768	
Adjustments for:					
Amortization of deferred capital funding	(998)	(876)	(2,046)	(1,752	
Depreciation of property and equipment	4,719	4,235	9,683	8,50	
Depreciation of intangible assets	7	5	12		
Depreciation of investment properties	179	174	353	34	
(Gain) loss on disposal of investments	(3)	3	-		
Change in employee benefits	(126)	(434)	294	15	
	4,692	265	10,008	(500	
Changes in Non-cash Working Capital:					
Trade and other receivable	(290)	801	538	50	
Lessor inducement	3	3	6		
Prepaids	778	13	1,524	(35)	
Trade and other payables	994	494	(611)	7	
Holdbacks	14	302	(30)	44	
Deferred government funding relating to operations	(708)	-	(1,401)		
Deferred revenue	(19)	(2)	(58)	(20	
	772	1,611	(32)	64	
Net Cash Generated by Operating Activities	5,464	1,876	9,976	14	
Cash Flows from Investing Activities					
Payments for property and equipment	(1,153)	(3,716)	(3,094)	(5,373	
Payments for investment properties	(481)	-	(481)		
Payments for intangible assets	(24)	-	(24)		
Government funding related to acquisitions of property and equipment	900	14	900	1	
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment	-	-	-		
Proceeds on sale of investments	30	2,432	38	10,98	
Purchase of investments	(17)	(1,062)	(41)	(2,308	
Net Cash Generated by (Used for) Investing Activities	(745)	(2,332)	(2,702)	3,32	
Cash Flows from Financing Activities					
Repayment of bonds payable	(2,504)	(33)	(2,542)	(63	
Repayment of loans payable	-	(2,724)	(2,909)	(2,72	
Payment of lease liability	(34)	(97)	(71)	(13	
Net Cash Used for Financing Activities	(2,538)	(2,854)	(5,522)	(2,922	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	2,181	(3,310)	1,752	54	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	4,591	11,239	5,020	7,38	
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	6,772	7,929	6,772	7,92	

Selected Notes to the Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

1. AUTHORITY AND ACTIVITIES

The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited (the "Corporation") is a *Canada Business Corporations Act* (CBCA) corporation listed in Schedule III Part 1 of the *Financial Administration Act* (FAA). It is an agent of Her Majesty, not subject to income tax under the provisions of the *Income Tax Act*. It is a parent Crown Corporation that reports to the Parliament of Canada through the Minister of Transport. The Corporation resulted, on February 1, 2015, from an amalgamation between the legacy The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited (the "legacy FBCL"), which was a parent Crown corporation, with its subsidiary, St. Mary's River Bridge Company (SMRBC), on January 27, 2015, and with another parent Crown corporation Blue Water Bridge Authority (BWBA). This was done in accordance with the authorities provided by the *Economic Action Plan 2013 Act*, *No. 2*. The remaining planned amalgamation in this Act, with the Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, The Seaway International Bridge Corporation Ltd. (SIBC), has not been realized to date.

The Corporation's primary activities involve the ownership and operation of four international bridges linking the Province of Ontario in Canada to the State of New York or the State of Michigan in the United States of America (U.S.). Moreover, the Corporation may also undertake other activities incidental to the bridge business.

The Corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary, SIBC, operates the Seaway International Bridge Crossing in Cornwall as a joint operation per agreement between the Corporation as Canadian owner and The Great Lakes St. Lawrence Seaway Development Corporation (GLS) as U.S. owner. As a Crown Corporation, SIBC is also subject to the same authorities as the Corporation. The Corporation is also a party to two other agreements for the operation of the international bridges. In regards to the Sault Ste. Marie International Bridge, this agreement is with the U.S. owner, the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). The bridge oversight is through a joint international entity, Sault Ste. Marie Bridge Administration (SSMBA), and its operations of the Thousand Islands International Bridge is also with the U.S. owner, the Thousand Islands Bridge Authority (TIBA), an entity of Jefferson County, State of New York. At the crossing between Point Edward, Ontario, and Port Huron, Michigan, the Corporation owns and operates the Canadian portion of the crossing. The U.S. side of the crossing is owned and operated by MDOT.

By Order in Council P.C. 2015-31 dated January 26, 2015, the Corporation was granted all necessary approvals of the *International Bridges and Tunnels Act* for the purposes of ownership and management of the international bridges under the Corporation's portfolio. *The Customs Act, section 6* requires the Corporation to provide, equip and maintain, free of charge, adequate buildings, accommodations or other facilities for the CBSA. A similar provision in the *Plant Protection Act* mandates similar support for the CFIA based at the land crossings. The subsidiary, SIBC, is also subject to the *Canada Marine Act* for the purposes of the management of the international bridge that crosses the St. Lawrence River.

The registered office of the Corporation is 55 Metcalfe, Suite 200, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 6L5.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Corporation's interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting (IAS 34) and do not include all of the information required for a full annual consolidated financial statements. The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements

The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited Quarterly Report 2021 2

Selected Notes to the Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

should be read in conjunction with the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021. These interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of application as disclosed in Note 2 of the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021.

3. SEASONALITY

Traffic on FBCL's portfolio of bridges has traditionally experienced seasonal variations. From a revenue perspective, the period of May to October has a greater number of transits. In the November to April timeframe, there are historically a lower number of transits resulting in lower toll revenues. This demand pattern is principally a result of leisure travellers, favourable weather and a preference for travel between the late spring and early fall months. However, revenues from April 1, 2020 onwards are significantly lower due to COVID-19 restrictions nearly eliminating all leisure travellers.

Economic conditions in Canada and the United States also have an important influence on international vehicle traffic by way of commercial truck traffic, which has a significantly higher toll rate. These economic conditions are less variable on a seasonal basis but more a result of the business climate in each country. Again, COVID-19 had a significant impact on the commercial truck traffic.

In regards to its expenses, FBCL incurs important annual maintenance and asset rehabilitation costs during the construction season spanning the first three quarters of the fiscal year. These planned expenses can be influenced by varying weather conditions depending on the timing of the onset of the winter climate. Expenses for operations and administration are not considered to have important seasonal variations.

4. USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that can significantly affect the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Where these differ, the impact will be recorded in future periods. Significant judgments and estimates as at September 30, 2021 were consistent with those disclosed in Note 4 of the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements 31, 2021.

5. FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There were no new standards and amendments to existing standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) during the six month period that would affect the Corporation in the future other than those disclosed in Note 5 of the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021.

Selected Notes to the Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd) 6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

			Vehicles					
		Bridges	and		Property	Right-of-use	Projects	
Cost	Land	and roads	equipment	Buildings	Improvements	Assets	in progress	Total
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Balance, April 1, 2020	14,810	269,671	33,498	144,098	31,223	1,622	2,739	497,661
Additions	27	69	1,114	54	278	4	11,365	12,911
Disposals	-	(556)	(2,661)	(93)	(2,775)	-	-	(6,085)
Transfers	-	-	389	356	7,241	-	(7,986)	-
Balance, March 31, 2021	14,837	269,184	32,340	144,415	35,967	1,626	6,118	504,487
Additions	-	25	73	-	-	23	2,973	3,094
Disposals	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Transfers	-	-	948	135	408	-	(1,685)	(194)
Balance, Sept 30, 2021	14,837	269,209	33,361	144,550	36,375	1,649	7,406	507,387

			Vehicles					
Accumulated		Bridges	and		Property	Right-of-use	Projects	
depreciation	Land	and Roads	Equipment	Buildings	Improvements	Assets	in Progress	Total
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Balance, April 1, 2020	-	72,579	16,617	27,866	15,681	210	-	132,953
Eliminated on								
disposal of assets	-	(546)	(2,657)	(93)	(2,775)	-	-	(6,071)
Depreciation	-	9,866	1,992	4,103	1,218	210	-	17,389
Balance, March 31, 2021	-	81,899	15,952	31,876	14,124	420	-	144,271
Eliminated on								
disposal of assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Transfers	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Depreciation	-	4,907	1,905	2,045	720	106	-	9,683
Balance, Sept 30, 2021	-	86,806	17,857	33,921	14,844	526	-	153,954
Net book value,								
Sept 30, 2021	14,837	182,403	15,504	110,629	21,531	1,123	7,406	353,433
Net book value,								
March 31, 2021	14,837	187,285	16,388	112,539	21,843	1,206	6,118	360,216

Selected Notes to the Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont'd)

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value

The fair values of trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, holdbacks, and the current portion of the loans payable and bonds payable approximate their carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and,
- · Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The carrying values and fair values of the Corporation's remaining financial assets and liabilities are listed in the following table:

As at September 30			2021
	Value	Cost	Level
	\$	\$	
Financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis			
Investments (fair value through other comprehensive income)	260	260	Level 2
Financial instruments measured at amortised costs			
Bonds payable	49,253	43,411	Level 2
As at March 31			2021
	Value	Cost	Level
	\$	\$	
Financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis			
Investments (fair value through other comprehensive income)	248	248	Level 2
Financial instruments measured at amortised costs			
Loans payable	2,563	2,542	Level 2
Bonds payable	54,322	46,320	Level 2